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1

Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 7.1, Defendants Yaakov Neeman,
Moshe

Kahlon, Edna Arbel, Simona Steinmetz, Batya Artman, Niva Milner,
and Daniel

Edri (the Foreign Official defendants) respectfully move to
dismiss the

Complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b).

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs are fathers who are dissatisfied with the resolution
of their

marital and child custody cases in the Israeli courts. They now
seek damages

against high-ranking Israeli officials (including a current
Justice on Israels

Supreme Court, two cabinet-level Ministers, and a judge on the
states

rabbinical court) for those officials participation in Israels
family-law system.

Plaintiffs allege that Israels family-law system, as a general
matter,

discriminates unfairly against men in child custody disputes.
Plaintiffs

impugn Israels legal and social welfare systems with spurious
and hyperbolic

allegations of torture and crimes against humanity, based solely
on the fact

that some of the Plaintiffs children were allowed to remain with
their birth

mothers in Israel. This suit thus aims to harass and penalize
certain Israeli

government officials who, while doing their jobs, became
involvedhowever

tangentiallyin Plaintiffs cases in Israel, including the Israeli
Supreme Court

Justice who wrote the majority opinion in a case involving one
of the Plaintiffs.
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The Complaint fails to set out a justiciable case. It can and
should be

dismissed on any of several threshold grounds. See generally
Sinochem Intl

Co. v. Malaysia Intl Shipping Corp., 549 U.S. 422 (2007)
(federal courts have

flexibility to choose among threshold grounds for dismissal).
The Court lacks

both personal jurisdiction over the Foreign Official defendants
and subject

matter jurisdiction over the dispute; the Foreign Official
defendants are

entitled to immunity for their official acts; the Foreign
Official defendants

have not been adequately served under the applicable treaty; the
Complaint

fails to state a claim; and the Courts consideration of internal
Israeli political,

administrative, and judicial decisions is improper under
multiple foreign-

policy abstention doctrines, including the act of state
doctrine, the political

question doctrine, comity, and forum non conveniens. Because the
Complaints

multiple deficiencies are incurable, this frivolous case should
be dismissed

with prejudice.

ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT

The Foreign Official defendants vigorously deny many of the
allegations

in the Complaint as inaccurate and inappropriately hostile. The
defendants

understand, however, that the Court must accept certain of
Plaintiffs

allegations as true for purposes of this Rule 12(b) motion. The
Court need

not, however, accept as true inferences unsupported by facts set
out in the
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Complaint or legal conclusions cast as factual allegations.
Ashcroft v. Iqbal,

556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009); Magnum v. Archdiocese of Phila., 253
F. Appx 224,

225 (3d Cir. 2007). Nor can the Court assume that the
[plaintiffs] can prove

facts that [they] ha[ve] not alleged. Associated Gen.
Contractors of Cal. v. Cal.

State Council of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 526 (1983); City of
Pittsburgh v. W.

Penn Power Co., 147 F.3d 256, 263 n.13 (3d Cir. 1998).

The Foreign Official defendants include high-ranking officials
of the

State of Israel who allegedly were involved in child custody
disputes in Israel

as part of their official duties. Yaakov Neeman is Israels
Minister of Justice.

Compl. 5. Moshe Kahlon is Israels Minister of Social Affairs and
Social

Services. Id. 6. Edna Arbel is a Justice on Israels Supreme
Court. Id. 7.

Daniel Edri is a judge on the Haifa Rabbinical District Court.
Id. 11. Batya

Artman is Chief Legal Counsel at the Ministry of Social Affairs
and Social

Services. Id. 9. Simona Steinmetz is the Chief Welfare Officer
of Family

Affairs at the Ministry of Social Affairs and Social Services.
Id. 8. Niva Milner

is the District Supervisor of Court Appointed Social Workers for
the Central

District of Tel Aviv at the Ministry of Social Affairs and
Social Services. Id.

10. All of the Foreign Official defendants currently reside in
Israel, id. 5-11,

and Plaintiffs do not allege that the Foreign Official
defendants have any
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contacts whatsoever with New Jersey. All of the alleged acts by
the Foreign

Official defendants took place in Israel.

At bottom, Plaintiffs are unhappy with the resolution of their
marital or

child custody cases in Israel. The claims in this case arise in
conjunction with

[Plaintiffs] efforts to obtain custodian and/or access rights
and/or visitation

rights of their minor children in Israel. Id. 21. Plaintiffs
allege that their

childrens mothers have alienate[d] the children from their
fathers, and that

the Defendants have active[ly] encourage[d] that practice
because

unidentified Defendants believe that children belong with their
mothers.

Id. 22. Plaintiffs allege that such preferential treatment for
women in

divorce proceedings in Israel manifests in automatic interim
child custody

for mothers, as well as presumptive permanent custody, exemption
from

producing financial records, [and] exemptions from paying child
support. Id.

28. Plaintiffs contend that [t]he nature of th[is] unfair
treatment, because it

destroys the parental relationship, is equivalent to torture and
violates the

most fundamental international human rights. Id. 43 (emphasis
added).

Plaintiff Sharon Ben-Haim is a New Jersey resident. Id. 2. He
alleges

that his child was illegally removed and kidnapped from the
United States to

Israelnot by any of the named defendants, but by the childs
mother. Id.

21, 23. Mr. Ben-Haim sought formal relief in Israel . . .
pursuant to the Hague
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Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child
Abduction. Id. 24.

Mr. Ben-Haim alleges that during the pendency of his lawsuit in
Israel, his

efforts for interim access to his child were thwartedagain not
by any of

the named defendants, but because of Defendants
institutionalized policies

elevating the rights of women over the rights of men in Israeli
child custody

cases . . . and a prevailing atmosphere of hate against men in
divorce within

the Judiciary, social workers and the police. Id.

Mr. Ben-Haims child abduction case ultimately was resolved in
Israels

Supreme Court. Justice Edna Arbel authored the majority opinion
holding that

Mr. Ben-Haims child legally could remain in Israel with the
childs mother

under the Hague Convention on Civil Aspects of International
Child Abduction.

Id. 25, 96. Mr. Ben-Haim now has sued Justice Arbel for writing
that

opinion, which Mr. Ben-Haim contends was spurious and in
defiance of law

and common sense. Id. 96, 25.

The only other Foreign Official defendant alleged to have any
direct

connection to Mr. Ben-Haims case is Judge Edri. Id. 95-99. Mr.
Ben-Haim

alleges, without elaboration, that Judge Edri somehow aided and
abetted the

kidnapping of Plaintiff Ben Haims child, by allegedly trapping
Ben Haim in

Israel, threatening needless arrest, and refusing to vacate a n
exeat order

issued against the child to keep her in Israel. Id. 11. Mr.
Ben-Haim also
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alleges, again without elaboration, that [Judge] Edri is
currently tormenting

Ben Haims father in retaliation for some unspecified reason. Id.
11; see

also id. 46(l).

Plaintiff Gamliel Elmalem is a United States citizen, currently
residing in

Israel. Id. 4. Mr. Elmalems only allegation tying the Foreign
Official

defendants to his case is the unsupported claim that Mr.
Elmalems domestic

violence arrest in Israel, child support payments, and
supervised visitation

resulted because Defendants Kahlon, Shteinmetz [sic], Artman and
Milner

believe that children will be traumatized if they see their own
fathers

unsupervised. Id. 106.

Plaintiff Sol Havivi is a United States citizen, currently
residing in Israel.

Id. 3. Mr. Havivi does not allege that any of the Foreign
Official defendants

were involved in his child custody dispute. See id. 100-104.
Rather, his

grievance is directed towards individuals not named as parties
in this suit.

See id. 101.

Counts 1, 2, and 3 ostensibly are directed against some or all
of the

Foreign Official defendants.1

Count 1 seeks damages under the Alien Tort

1 None of the Foreign Official defendants is named in Count 1,
but the chargerefers to Defendants collectively. Count 2 names only
Defendants Neeman,Arbel, and Kahlon. Count 3 names all the Foreign
Official defendants. Counts4, 5, and 6 are directed only to the
entity defendants.
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Statute (ATS), 28 U.S.C. 1350, for crimes against humanity in
violation of

the law of nations. Id. 108-122. Count 2 seeks $26,000,000 for
reckless

disregard for human and parental rights, presumably under the
ATS or the

Torture Victim Protection Act (TVPA), 28 U.S.C. 1350 note. Id.
123-138.

Count 3 seeks $26,000,000 for negligent and/or intentional
infliction of

emotional distress, presumably under state law. Id. 139-147.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT LACKS JURISDICTION OVER THE FOREIGN
OFFICIALDEFENDANTS AND OVER THIS DISPUTE

A. The Complaint Contains No Allegations Sufficient to
Establish

Personal Jurisdiction over the Foreign Official Defendants

Plaintiffs bear the burden of establishing this Courts
personal

jurisdiction over the Foreign Official defendants, Boyd v.
Arizona, No. 10-4536,

2012 WL 926140, at *3 (3d Cir. Mar. 20, 2012), yet they fail to
allege a single

fact in support thereof. Where, as here, plaintiffs fail to
submit competent

evidence in support of jurisdiction over Defendant[s],
Plaintiff[s] ha[ve] not

met [their] evidentiary burden, and the Court may dismiss the
Complaint on

this ground alone. Moreno v. Detroit Spectrum Painters, Inc.,
Civ. A. No. 10-

3696 (JLL), 2011 WL 181417, at *2 (D.N.J. Jan. 19, 2011)
(Linares, J.).2

2 [T]here is no mandatory sequencing of jurisdictional issues.
Sinochem,549 U.S. at 431 (quoting Ruhrgas AG v. Marathon Oil Co.,
526 U.S. 574, 584

Footnote continued on next page
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The Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act (FSIA), 28 U.S.C. 1330,
1602-

11, which Plaintiffs contend confers personal jurisdiction over
the Foreign

Official defendants (Compl. 19), does not apply to individual
state actors. In

Samantar v. Yousuf, 130 S. Ct. 2278 (2010), the Supreme Court
held that the

FSIA vests federal courts with jurisdiction over foreign states
under limited

circumstances, but that the FSIA does not apply to an official
acting on behalf

of a foreign state. Id. at 2289. Thus, a plaintiff seeking to
sue a foreign

official will not be able to rely on the [FSIAs] service of
process and

jurisdictional rules. Id. at 2292 n.20. Instead, a plaintiff
will have to

establish that the district court has personal jurisdiction over
an official

without the benefit of the FSIA. Id. Plaintiffs invocation of
the FSIA as a basis

for personal jurisdiction over the Foreign Official defendants
thus is

foreclosed by Samantar. Abi Jaoudi & Azar Trading Corp. v.
Cigna Worldwide

Ins. Co., 391 F. Appx 173, 178 (3d Cir. 2010).

Absent a statutory grant of personal jurisdiction, federal
courts in New

Jersey may assert jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant only
to the extent

authorized by state law. Eurofins Pharma US Holdings v.
BioAlliance Pharma

Footnote continued from previous page

(1999)). In appropriate circumstances . . . a court may dismiss
for lack ofpersonal jurisdiction without first establishing
subject-matter jurisdiction.Id. (citing Ruhrgas, 526 U.S. at
578).
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SA, 623 F.3d 147, 155 (3d Cir. 2010). New Jerseys long-arm
statute, N.J. Court

Rule 4:4-4, provides for jurisdiction coextensive with the due
process

requirements of the United States Constitution. Colvin v. Van
Wormer Resorts,

Inc., 417 F. Appx 183, 186 (3d Cir. 2011). Thus, personal
jurisdiction over an

out-of-state defendant exists only if the defendant has certain
minimum

contacts with [New Jersey] such that the maintenance of the suit
does not

offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.
Goodyear

Dunlop Tires Operations S.A., v. Brown, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 2853
(2011).

To find minimum contacts, this Court must determine that the
Foreign

Official defendants have purposefully directed their activities
towards New

Jersey. Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 473-74
(1985); see also

Hanson v. Denckla, 357 U.S. 235, 253 (1958) (requiring some act
by which the

defendant purposefully avails itself of the privilege of
conducting activities

within the forum State, thus invoking the benefits and
protections of its

laws). Absent sufficient minimum contacts, those who live or
operate

primarily outside a State have a due process right not to be
subjected to

judgment in its courts as a general matter. J. McIntyre
Machinery, Ltd. v.

Nicastro, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 2787 (2011) (plurality opinion by
Kennedy, J.).

The allegations in the Complaint satisfy neither the specific
nor

general jurisdiction tests developed by the Supreme Court under
the
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minimum contacts framework. To establish specific jurisdiction,
Plaintiffs

must show that the claim arises from or relates to conduct
purposely

directed at the forum state. Boyd, 2012 WL 926140 at *4. To
establish

general jurisdiction, plaintiffs must show significantly more
than mere

minimum contacts with New Jersey. Provident Natl Bank v. Cal.
Fed. Sav. &

Loan Assn, 819 F.2d 434, 437 (3d Cir. 1987); see also Reliance
Steel Prods. Co.

v. Watson, Ess, Marshall & Enggas, 675 F.2d 587, 589 (3d
Cir. 1982) (facts must

be extensive and persuasive). Plaintiffs must show that the
Foreign Official

defendants maintained systematic and continuous contacts with
the forum

state. Boyd, 2012 WL 926140, at *4 (quoting Kehm Oil Co. v.
Texaco, Inc., 537

F.3d 290, 300 (3d Cir. 2008)); see also Goodyear, 131 S. Ct. at
2853 (For an

individual, the paradigm forum for the exercise of general
jurisdiction is the

individuals domicile . . . .).

Not only does the Complaint fail to allege any activity on the
part of the

Foreign Official defendants that is purposely directed at New
Jersey, it

alleges no contacts whatsoever between any of the Foreign
Official defendants

and New Jersey. Each of the Foreign Official defendants resides
in Israel.

Compl. 5-11. These individuals are in no sense at home in New
Jersey.

Goodyear, 131 S. Ct. at 2857. Moreover, the allegations in this
case relate

solely to family-law disputes that were conducted entirely
within Israel. See
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Compl. 21. Indeed, all of the acts allegedly committed by the
Foreign Official

defendants took place in Israel.

As a result, the exercise of either specific or general
jurisdiction over the

Foreign Official defendants in this case would be wholly
improper. Plaintiffs

have made no showing at all to substantiate this Courts personal
jurisdiction

over the Foreign Official defendants, and Plaintiffs claims
therefore must be

dismissed under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2).
[J]urisdiction over

the person . . . is an essential element of the jurisdiction of
a district court,

without which the court is powerless to proceed to an
adjudication. Ruhrgas

AG v. Marathon Oil Co., 526 U.S. 574, 583-84 (1999) (internal
quotation marks,

internal formatting, and citation omitted).

B. The Court Lacks Subject Matter Jurisdiction

The Court also lacks subject matter jurisdiction over this case.
The

Complaint cites the Alien Tort Statute, federal question, and
federal diversity

as bases for the Courts subject-matter jurisdiction, but none of
these statutes

supports jurisdiction here.

1. The Alien Tort Statute Is Inapplicable Because Plaintiffs
AreNot Aliens and the Allegations Are Not Actionable Normsof
Customary International Law

The Alien Tort Statute provides federal-court jurisdiction over
a civil

action by an alien for a tort only, committed in violation of
the law of nations
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or a treaty of the United States. 28 U.S.C. 1350. The ATS
enables courts to

hear a very limited category [of claims] defined by the law of
nations, and

the statute explicitly confers the privilege of suing for an
actionable tort . . .

on aliens alone. Rasul v. Bush, 542 U.S. 466, 485 (2004).

According to the plain statutory language, one precondition for
subject-

matter jurisdiction to be conferred under the ATS is that suit
be filed by an

alien, not a citizen. Yousuf v. Samantar, 552 F.3d 371, 375 n.1
(4th Cir. 2009)

(emphasis in original), affd, 130 S. Ct. 2278 (2010). Neither
Plaintiff Havivi

nor Plaintiff Elmalem is an alien. Both admittedly are U.S.
citizens. Compl.

3 (Plaintiff, Sol Havivi, is a United States citizen.); id. 100
(similar); id. 4

(Plaintiff, Gamliel Elmalem, is an American citizen.); id. 105
(same).

Similarly, Plaintiff Ben-Haim does not allege that he is an
alien, claiming only

that he is a resident of New Jersey. See id. 2. Elsewhere, the
Complaint

asserts that Mr. Ben-Haim is American. See id. 27.

Because Plaintiffs bear the burden of demonstrating that all

jurisdictional conditions are met, see DaimlerChrysler Corp. v.
Cuno, 547 U.S.

332, 342 (2006), this Court lacks jurisdiction under the ATS
because none of

the plaintiffs are alleged to be aliens. See Chavez v. Carranza,
407 F. Supp. 2d

925, 930 (W.D. Tenn. 2004) (The [ATS] creates jurisdiction in
the United

States courts only for non-citizen plaintiffs who sue a
defendant in tort for a
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violation of international law.); Jerez v. Republic of Cuba, 777
F. Supp. 2d 6, 21

n.28 (D.D.C. 2011) (same); Miner v. Begum, 8 F. Supp. 2d 643,
644 (S.D. Tex.

1998) (same). Thus, Count 1which is predicated on the ATS
(Compl.

115, 118)must be dismissed for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction.

Even if Mr. Ben-Haim were an alien, Count 1 still must be
dismissed

because the allegations in the Complaint plainly are not
actionable under the

ATS. In Sosa v. Alvarez-Machain, 542 U.S. 692 (2004), the
Supreme Court

concluded that the ATS provides jurisdiction for federal courts
to hear a very

limited category of private claims defined by the law of
nations, id. at 712,

such as piracy, genocide, torture, war crimes, slavery, and
similarly egregious

crimes against humanity. The Supreme Court admonished the lower
courts to

exercise great caution and restraint before expanding the scope
of ATS

claims, explaining that the potential implications for the
foreign relations of

the United States of recognizing such causes should make courts
particularly

wary of impinging on the discretion of the Legislative and
Executive Branches

in managing foreign affairs. Id. at 727-28.

Plaintiffs miscellaneous and vague chargeswhich include

institutionalized policies elevating the rights of women over
the rights of men

in Israeli child custody cases (Compl. 24), a prevailing
atmosphere of hate

against men (id.), and discriminatory and statutory presumptions
in Israeli
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child custody cases (id. 26)do not constitute specific,
universal, and

obligatory norms of international law required of a cause of
action under

Sosa. Sosa, 542 U.S. at 732. There simply is no international
law norm

actionable under the ATS regarding gender discrimination in
child custody

cases, as alleged in the Complaint. Notably, the Ninth Circuit,
sitting en banc,

recently concluded that even systematic racial discrimination
was not

actionable under the ATS. Sarei v. Rio Tinto, PLC, 671 F.3d 736,
768 (9th Cir.

2011) (en banc) ([T]he controlling question then becomes whether
the

international norm prohibiting systematic racial discrimination
is sufficiently

specific and obligatory to give rise to a cause of action under
the ATS. We

conclude it is not.).

Plaintiffs provocative characterization of Israels child custody
policies

and legislation as torture and crimes against humanity is
absurd.

Plaintiffs highly-charged labels have no relevance to this case.
The Rome

Statute of the International Criminal Court defines a crime
against humanity

as murder, extermination, enslavement, deportation or forcible
transfer of

population, imprisonment in violation of international law,
torture, rape,

sexual slavery, enforced disappearance, or the crime of
apartheid when

committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack directed
against any

civilian population, with knowledge of the attack. Rome Statute
of the
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International Criminal Court, art. 7, opened for signature July
17, 1998, 37

I.L.M. 1002, 2187 U.N.T.S. 90. Systematic persecution against an
identifiable

group on the basis of gender constitutes a crime against
humanity only if

committed in connection with any act listed above. Id. Nor do
Israeli child

custody policies or legislation constitute torture as defined
both under the

Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman, or
Degrading

Treatment or Punishment, Dec. 10, 1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 85, and
under U.S. law

(see Part I.B.2, infra). In fact, Israels child custody laws and
social welfare

policies are based on the best interests of the child, a
standard applied in

nearly every country, including the United States.

Any doubt about the validity of Plaintiffs international law
claim cuts

sharply against ATS jurisdiction. Federal courts have no
congressional

mandate to seek out and define new and debatable violations of
the law of

nations, and modern indications of congressional understanding
of the

judicial role in the field have not affirmatively encouraged
greater judicial

creativity. Sosa, 542 U.S. at 728. See also Hereros ex rel.
Riruako v. Deutche

Afrika-Linien Gmblt & Co., 232 F. Appx 90, 93-96 (3d Cir.
2007) (holding that

claims for slave labor in South Africa from 1890 to 1915 were
not actionable

under the ATS).
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Because Plaintiffs do not allege that they are aliens, and
because the

allegations in the Complaint obviously are not actionable
violations of

international law under the ATS, this Court lacks subject matter
jurisdiction

under 28 U.S.C. 1350.3

2. No Federal Question Jurisdiction Exists Because
PlaintiffsReliance on the TVPA Is Entirely Frivolous

The only other federal statute invoked by the Plaintiffs is the
Torture

Victim Protection Act (TVPA), Pub. L. 102-256, 106 Stat. 73
(codified at 28

U.S.C. 1350 note). Although Plaintiffs make no specific claim
for relief under

the TVPA, they invoke the federal statute as a basis for this
Courts

jurisdiction. Compl. 16. The TVPA, however, is not a
jurisdictional statute.

To the extent Count 2 seeks relief under the TVPA, such a claim
is frivolous

and should be dismissed with prejudice.

The TVPA provides that [a]n individual who, under actual or
apparent

authority, or color of law, of any foreign nation . . . subjects
an individual to

3 That all of the alleged conduct in this case took place in
Israel is an additional

basis for dismissal of Plaintiffs ATS count. On March 5, 2012,
the SupremeCourt ordered briefing and argument on [w]hether and
under whatcircumstances the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. 1350,
allows courts torecognize a cause of action for violations of the
law of nations occurringwithin the territory of a sovereign other
than the United States. Order, Kiobelv. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co.,
No. 10-1491 (U.S. Mar. 5, 2012).
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torture shall, in a civil action, be liable for damages to that
individual. 28

U.S.C. 1350 note, 2(a). The statute defines torture as

any act, directed against an individual in the offenders custody
orphysical control, by which severe pain or suffering (other
thanpain or suffering arising only from or inherent in, or
incidental to,lawful sanctions), whether physical or mental, is
intentionallyinflicted on that individual for such purposes as
obtaining fromthat individual or a third person information or a
confession,punishing that individual for an act that individual or
a thirdperson has committed or is suspected of having
committed,intimidating or coercing that individual or a third
person, or forany reason based on discrimination of any kind . . .
.

Id. 3(b)(1).

Plaintiffs TVPA claim suffers at least three fatal deficiencies.
First,

Plaintiffs never were under the offenders custody or physical
control, a

requirement of the statutory definition of torture.

Second, the Plaintiffs plainly were not tortured. The
Complaint

contains no allegations of physical harm, and Plaintiffs do not
allege severe

mental pain or suffering as defined by the TVPA. Mental pain or
suffering

means:

prolonged mental harm caused by or resulting from

(A) the intentional infliction or threatened infliction ofsevere
physical pain or suffering;

(B) the administration or application, or
threatenedadministration or application, of mind alteringsubstances
or other procedures calculated to disruptprofoundly the senses or
the personality;
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(C) the threat of imminent death; or

(D) the threat that another individual will imminently
besubjected to death, severe physical pain or suffering, orthe
administration or application of mind altering

substances or other procedures calculated to disruptprofoundly
the senses or personality.

Id. 3(b)(2) (emphasis added). Plaintiffs do not allege any of
the four

conditions listed above, and thus fail to state even a prima
facie claim under

the TVPA.

Third, Plaintiffs do not allege that they exhausted their
remedies in

Israel, as required by the TVPA. A court shall decline to hear a
claim under

[the TVPA] if the claimant has not exhausted adequate and
available remedies

in the place in which the conduct giving rise to the claim
occurred. Id. 2(b).

Israeli tort law provides adequate remedies for plaintiffs
injured as a result

of tortious conduct, and [i]t has been recognized in other cases
that Israels

courts are generally considered to provide an adequate
alternative forum for

civil matters. Corrie v. Caterpillar, Inc., 403 F. Supp. 2d
1019, 1026 (W.D.

Wash. 2005) (dismissing TVPA claim for failure to exhaust
remedies), affd,

503 F.3d 974 (9th Cir. 2007) (affirming on political question
grounds).

Each of these deficiencies renders Plaintiffs TVPA claimto the
extent

Plaintiffs seek relief under the TVPAcompletely frivolous.
Ordinarily, the

failure to state a proper cause of action requires dismissal on
the merits and
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not dismissal for want of jurisdiction. Bell v. Hood, 327 U.S.
678, 682 (1946).

However, [a] district court can grant a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to
dismiss for

lack of subject matter jurisdiction based on the legal
insufficiency of a claim

when, as here, the claim is wholly insubstantial and frivolous.
Kehr

Packages, Inc. v. Fidelcor, Inc., 926 F.2d 1406, 1408-09 (3d
Cir. 1991) (quoting

Bell, 327 U.S. at 682); accord Steel Co. v. Citizens for a
Better Envt, 523 U.S. 83,

89 (1998) (dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction is
appropriate

when the claim is so insubstantial, implausible, . . . or
otherwise completely

devoid of merit as not to involve a federal controversy).
Because Plaintiffs

fail to invoke a federal law (in a non-frivolous manner), the
Court lacks subject

matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 1331.

3. The Suit Lacks Diversity Jurisdiction

Lastly, the Complaint invokes the diversity jurisdiction
statute, 28 U.S.C.

1332, as a basis for the Courts subject matter jurisdiction.
Compl. 18.

Given the presence of foreign parties in this suit, this Court
could have

diversity jurisdiction over this case only under 28 U.S.C.
1332(a)(2) or

(a)(3). Neither provision applies here.

Section 1332(a)(3) provides jurisdiction over disputes
between

citizens of different States and in which citizens or subjects
of a foreign state

are additional parties. 28 U.S.C. 1332(a)(3). This case,
however, does not
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involve a dispute between citizens of different States because
none of the

Plaintiffs is a citizen[] of a State. Plaintiffs Havivi and
Elmalem are both

living outside the United States (Compl. 3, 4), and an American
citizen

domiciled abroad at the time [his] Complaint was filed . . .
would not be a

citizen of any state. Frett-Smith v. Vanterpool, 511 F.3d 396,
400 (3d Cir.

2008).

Similarly, Plaintiff Ben-Haim does not claim to be a citizen of
New

Jersey, but only a resident of New Jersey. Compl. 2. In 2011,
Congress

repealed a former provision in Section 1332(a) that deemed
permanent

resident aliens domiciled in a U.S. state to be citizens of that
state. See

Federal Courts Jurisdiction and Venue Clarification Act of 2011,
Pub. L. 112-

63, 101.4 Congress removed that provision specifically to
eliminate the

potential for jurisdictional expansion. H.R. Rep. No. 112-10, at
7 (2011). By

eliminating the proviso, resident aliens would no longer be
deemed to be U.S.

citizens for purposes of diversity jurisdiction, thereby
avoiding the possibly

anomalous results under paragraphs 1332(a)(1)-(3). Id. Because
none of the

4 The revised statute became effective on January 6, 2012, prior
to theinitiation of this case.
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Plaintiffs claims to be a citizen[] of a State, Section
1332(a)(3) is

inapplicable.5

Section 1332(a)(2) provides jurisdiction over disputes
between

citizens of a State and citizens or subjects of a foreign state.
28 U.S.C.

1332(a)(2). This provision similarly does not apply because none
of the

plaintiffs here is a citizen[] of a State. Jurisdiction under
Section 1332(a)(2)

also is lacking because this provision requires complete
diversity, meaning

that foreign parties cannot be both plaintiffs and defendants.
Cases between

aliens on one side and aliens and citizens on the other,
therefore, do not fit the

jurisdictional pigeonhole. Dresser Indus., Inc. v. Underwriters
at Lloyds of

London, 106 F.3d 494, 499 (3d Cir. 1997) (footnote omitted); see
also id.

([S]ection 1332(a)(2) only grants jurisdiction in cases between
aliens and

citizens.).6 Because this dispute involves parties on both sides
of the v. who

5 Plaintiff Ben-Haims citizenship status is unclear. If he is a
U.S. citizen, thenhe may not bring a claim under the ATS. Supra,
page 12. If he is not a U.S.citizen, then he may not invoke
diversity jurisdiction as a citizen of a [U.S.]

state.6 Congress does not use the term alien in 28 U.S.C.
1332(a). In Dresser, thecourt of appeals used the term alien to
mean any person who is not acitizen of a [U.S.] Stateconsistent
with the dichotomy set forth in thestatute. This usage is
dissimilar to the term alien in the ATS, which means anon-U.S.
citizen.
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are foreigners, this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction
under Section

1332(a)(2).

* * *

Jurisdiction to resolve cases on the merits requires both
authority over

the category of claim in suit (subject-matter jurisdiction) and
authority over

the parties (personal jurisdiction), so that the courts decision
will bind them.

Ruhrgas, 526 U.S. at 577; accord Lance v. Coffman, 549 U.S. 437,
439 (2007)

(per curiam) (Federal courts must determine that they have
jurisdiction

before proceeding to the merits.). Because this Court lacks both
subject

matter jurisdiction over this dispute and personal jurisdiction
over the

Foreign Official defendants, the case must be dismissed under
Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and (b)(2).

II. THE FOREIGN OFFICIAL DEFENDANTS ARE IMMUNE FROM SUIT

FOR THEIR OFFICIAL ACTS

This Court also lacks jurisdiction over this case because the
Foreign

Official defendants are entitled to immunity for official acts
committed within

their capacities as government officials. Official-acts immunity
(or immunity

ratione materiae) extends to all conduct in the discharge of
official functions.

Because the allegations in the Complaint stem from the Foreign
Official

defendants official acts, this Court lacks jurisdiction. See
Restatement
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(Second) of Foreign Relations Law of the United States 63(1)
(1965)

(Immunity . . . means the freedom of an entity, person, or thing
from the

exercise of jurisdiction [by] a state.).

As the Supreme Court explained in Samantar, the immunity of
foreign

government officials is set under the common law. 130 S. Ct. at
2292.

Official-acts immunity has a long history of recognition under
U.S. federal

common law. In 1797, the Attorney General observed that a person
acting

under a commission from the sovereign of a foreign nation is not
amenable for

what he does in pursuance of his commission, to any judicial
tribunal in the

United States. Actions Against Foreigners, 1 Op. Atty Gen. 81,
81 (1797). A

century later, in Underhill v. Hernandez, 168 U.S. 250 (1897),
the Supreme

Court recognized the doctrine of official-acts immunity as [t]he
immunity of

individuals from suits brought in foreign tribunals for acts
done within their

own states, in the exercise of governmental authority . . . as
civil officers. Id.

at 252. Similarly, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals recently
held in Matar v.

Dichter, 563 F.3d 9 (2d Cir. 2009), that common-law immunity
precluded

jurisdiction over the former Director of the Israeli General
Security Service

with respect to acts performed in his official capacity. Id. at
14. In light of

two centuries of precedent, the Supreme Court acknowledged in
2010 that

several courts have followed the rule that foreign sovereign
immunity
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extends to an individual officer for acts committed in his
official capacity.

Samantar, 130 S. Ct. at 2291 n.17. While not affirmatively
deciding the issue,

the Supreme Court observed that this formulation may be correct
as a matter

of common-law principles. Id.

Official-acts immunity also is an established principle of
customary

international law. In 1991, the International Law Commission to
the United

Nations General Assembly recognized immunity ratione materiae
for

[a]ctions against . . . representatives or agents of a foreign
Government in

respect of their official acts. Draft Articles on Jurisdictional
Immunities from

States and Their Property, art. 2, in Report of the
International Law

Commission to the General Assembly on the Work of Its
Forty-Third Session (29

Apr.19 July 1991), 46 U.N. GAOR Supp. (No. 10), U.N. Doc.
A/46/10 (1991),

reprinted in [1991] 2 Y.B. Intl L. Commn 12, 18, U.N. Doc.

A/CN.4/SER.A/1991/Add.1 (Part 2).

In its amicus brief in Samantar, the United States explained
that foreign

officials immunity continues to be governed by the generally
applicable

principles of immunity articulated by the Executive Branch. Br.
for the

United States asAmicus Curiae Supporting Affirmance at 7,
Samantar v. Yousuf,

130 S. Ct. 2278 (2010) (No. 08-1555), 2010 WL 342031.
Specifically, the

United States recognizes foreign officials to enjoy immunity
from civil suits
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with respect to their official actsan immunity properly founded
on non-

statutory principles articulated by the Executive Branch. Id. at
14; see also id.

at 27 (foreign officials generally continue to enjoy immunity
under

background principles for their official acts).

The Foreign Official defendants are all government officials of
the State

of Israel. All of the allegations in the Complaint indisputably
relate to their

official acts within their own states, in the exercise of
governmental authority

. . . as civil officers. Underhill, 168 U.S. at 252. Nothing
more is required for

this Court to dismiss the claims against the Foreign Official
defendants for lack

of jurisdiction due to official-acts immunitya conclusion
buttressed by

Plaintiffs own characterizations. See, e.g., Compl. 74 (The
social worker is

cloaked with absolute immunity, just like a judge.). Thus, the
Foreign Official

defendants respectfully submit that this case presents a
clear-cut case of

official-acts immunity.

III. THE FOREIGN OFFICIAL DEFENDANTS HAVE NOT BEEN SERVED

PURSUANT TO THE HAGUE SERVICE CONVENTION

Before a federal court may exercise personal jurisdiction over
a

defendant, the procedural requirement of service of summons must
be

satisfied. Omni Capital Intl, Ltd. v. Rudolf Wolff & Co.,
484 U.S. 97, 104 (1987).

Plaintiffs have not complied with the service requirements in
the Hague
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Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial
Documents in

Civil or Commercial Matters (Hague Convention), Nov. 15, 1965,
20 U.S.T.

361, 658 U.N.T.S. 163, and this case should be dismissed under
Federal Rule of

Civil Procedure 12(b)(5).

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4(f) governs service of
individuals in a

foreign country and requires Plaintiffs to serve the Foreign
Official defendants

pursuant to the Hague Convention, to which the United States and
Israel are

parties. Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(f)(1). The provisions of the Hague
Convention are

mandatory; failure to comply voids attempted service.
Volkswagenwerk

Aktiengesellschaft v. Schlunk, 486 U.S. 694, 699 (1988).

The primary mechanism for Hague Convention service is set forth
in

Articles 3 to 6. Generally, a competent judicial officer or
authority of the

sending State shall forward to the designated Central Authority
of the

receiving State a request for service, annexing the documents to
be served. If

the request complies with the provisions of the Hague
Convention, the Central

Authority shall itself serve the documents according to that
countrys internal

laws, unless the compliance with the request would infringe the
sovereignty

or security of the State addressed. See Hague Convention, art.
13. Upon

completion of service, the Central Authority shall complete and
return a

certificate of compliance directly to the applicant in the
originating State.
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The Hague Convention also authorizes several alternative methods
of

service. Articles 8 and 9 provide for service through diplomatic
and consular

channels. Article 10 provides a limited right to send judicial
documents by

postal channels, and Article 19 allows service consistent with
any other

method of transmission permissible under the receiving States
internal laws

regarding the receipt of judicial documents coming from
abroad.

Plaintiffs admittedly have not served the summons and Complaint
in

accordance with the Hague Convention. The proofs of service
submitted by

Plaintiffs (Dkt. #5) show that Defendants Neeman, Arbel, Artman,
Milner, and

Edri purportedly were served at their places of work or
residence in Israel by

either the Plaintiffs or their process servers. Defendants
Kahlon and

Steinmetz purportedly were served by registered mail at their
work and home

addresses, respectively. As Plaintiffs candidly acknowledge,
those service

attempts are insufficient under the Hague Convention. See Dkt.
#23, 5-6

(As for the overseas Defendants, should they contest service, I
respectfully

request the Court to determine the appropriate manner. I can
re-serve the

Defendants via the Hague Convention mechanism . . . by sending
an order

requesting judicial cooperation of the Israeli Central Authority
. . . .). Until the

Plaintiffs effect service in compliance with the Hague
Convention, this Court

lacks personal jurisdiction over the Foreign Official
defendants.
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IV. PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO STATE A CLAIM

For the reasons set forth in Part I.B, supra, Plaintiffs have
failed to state

a claim under the ATS and the TVPA. Counts 1 and 2 must be
dismissed under

Rule 12(b)(6).

V. THE SUIT IS BARRED BY MULTIPLE FOREIGN-POLICY ABSTENTION

DOCTRINES

Plaintiffs Complaint is an attack on high-ranking Israeli
officials, their

official decisions and purported policies, and the family-law
and social welfare

systems of Israel generally. This case plainly has no place in a
U.S. court and is

barred by the act of state doctrine, the political question
doctrine, comity, and

forum non conveniens.7

Act of State: The act of state doctrine precludes the courts of
this

country from inquiring into the validity of the public acts a
recognized foreign

sovereign power committed within its own territory. World Wide
Minerals,

Ltd. v. Republic of Kaz., 296 F.3d 1154, 1164 (D.C. Cir. 2002)
(quoting Banco

Nacional de Cuba v. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. 398, 401 (1964)). The
doctrine applies

in any case where the relief sought or the defense interposed
would

[require] a court in the United States to declare invalid the
official act of a

foreign sovereign performed within its boundaries. Id. (quoting
W.S.

7 In light of the obvious jurisdictional and merits-based
defects of this case,these doctrines are only briefly set forth
below.
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Kirkpatrick & Co. v. Envtl. Tectonics Corp., Intl, 493 U.S.
400, 405 (1990)). The

act of state doctrine applies not only to the public acts of a
foreign state, but

also to the acts of a government official taken in an official
capacity. See

Samantar, 130 S. Ct. at 2290.8

The act of state doctrine requires that in the process of
deciding [a

case], the acts of foreign sovereigns taken within their own
jurisdictions shall

be deemed valid. W.S. Kirkpatrick, 493 U.S. at 409. Because
Plaintiffs claims

are based on the purported invalidity of Israeli policies,
legislation, and

judicial determinations under Israeli law, this suit is barred
by the act of state

doctrine. See, e.g., Compl. 52 (Defendants policies
institutionalize the

practice of egregious and unconscionable discrimination and the
acceptance

of unequal statutory presumptions . . . .) (emphasis added));
id. 5 3

(Defendants also imposed and enforce discriminatory domestic
violence

guidelines. Women are exempt from prosecution for false reports,
pursuant

8 The act of state doctrine is separate from the question of a
foreign officialsimmunity from suit in U.S. courts. Unlike a claim
of sovereign immunity,which merely raises a jurisdictional defense,
the act of state doctrine provides

foreign states with a substantive defense on the merits.
Republic of Austria v.Altmann, 541 U.S. 677, 700 (2004). The
doctrine thus prevents U.S. courtsfrom question[ing] the validity
of public acts (acts jure imperii) performed byother sovereigns
within their own borders, even when such courts havejurisdiction
over a controversy in which one of the litigants has standing
tochallenge those acts. Id. (footnote omitted).
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to policies written by Defendant Arbel.); id. 63 (Defendants
policies also

impose a strict, cruel and unconscionable regime of supervised
father-child

relationships.). To allow the proceedings in this case to
continue would grant

federal district courts the right to review decisions of Israels
judicial and

social welfare systems, as well as enactments of Israels
legislature.

Nor does the act of state doctrine turn on whether, accepting
the

allegations of the complaint as true, the foreign officials
complied with

international standards or the laws of the foreign State. The
Supreme Court

has held that the doctrine applies even if it is claimed that
the act of state in

question violated international law. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. at 422.
The issue for

purposes of applying the act of state doctrine is whether
adjudicating claims

of such wrongs would unduly affront foreign sovereigns and
thereby disrupt

the conduct of U.S. foreign relations by the Executive
Branch.

Political Question: Federal courts may not exercise jurisdiction
over

cases that present political questions. [A] controversy involves
a political

question . . . where there is a textually demonstrable
constitutional

commitment of the issue to a coordinate political department; or
a lack of

judicially discoverable and manageable standards for resolving
it. Zivotofsky

v. Clinton, 132 S. Ct. 1421, 1427 (2012). See also New Jersey
Peace Action v.

Obama, No. Civ. A. 08-2315 (JLL), 2009 WL 1416041, at *6-9
(D.N.J. May 19,
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2009) (Linares, J.) (granting dismissal on political question
and standing

grounds), affd, 379 F. Appx 217 (3d Cir. 2010) (affirmed for
lack of standing).

The Supreme Court has recognized that such political questions
uniquely

demand a single-voiced statement of the Governments views, Baker
v. Carr,

369 U.S 186, 211 (1962), and that political decisions are
decisions of a kind

for which the judiciary has neither aptitude, facilities nor
responsibility and

have long been held to belong in the domain of political power
not subject to

judicial intrusion or inquiry. Chi. & S. Air Lines, Inc. v.
Waterman S.S. Corp.,

333 U.S. 103, 111 (1948).

Plaintiffs allegations regarding Israels compliance with its

international obligations under the Hague Convention on Civil
Aspects of

International Child Abduction (1980) and the U.S.-Israel Treaty
of Friendship,

Commerce, and Navigation (1950) are inherently questions
committed to the

Executive Branch in managing our nations foreign affairs. The
manner in

which Israel interprets its international treaty obligations and
the manner in

which the United States responds to that interpretation are
beyond the

purview of U.S. federal courts.

Comity: International comity is the recognition which one
nation

allows within its territory to the legislative, executive or
judicial acts of

another nation, having due regard both to international duty and
convenience,
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and to the rights of its own citizens or of other persons who
are under the

protection of its laws. Hilton v. Guyot, 159 U.S. 113, 164
(1895). Generally,

United States courts will not review acts of foreign governments
and will

defer to proceedings taking place in foreign countries, allowing
those acts and

proceedings to have extraterritorial effect in the United
States. Gross v.

German Found. Indus. Initiative, 456 F.3d 363, 392 (3d Cir.
2006).

Any judicial review of this case in the United States
threatens

international comity. Plaintiffs seek money damages from
high-ranking Israeli

officials based on their official acts and the purported
policies and laws of

Israel. Judicial oversight by a U.S. court of Israels legal and
social welfare

systems, particularly in the area of family law, is the
antithesis of comity. It

would be no different than a foreign tribunal condoning a
damages suit

against a U.S. Supreme Court justice brought by a disgruntled
litigant who lost

a 5-4 decision in the Supreme Court, or a suit against the U.S.
Attorney General

for allowing U.S. law to reach that 5-4 outcome, or a suit
against the

Secretary of Health and Human Services for approving a policy or
regulation

that some constituents find unfavorable.

Forum Non Conveniens: A federal court has discretion to dismiss
a

case on the ground of forum non conveniens when an alternative
forum has

jurisdiction to hear [the] case, and . . . trial in the chosen
forum would
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establish . . . oppressiveness and vexation to a defendant . . .
out of all

proportion to plaintiffs convenience, or . . . the chosen forum
[is]

inappropriate because of considerations affecting the courts
own

administrative and legal problems. Sinochem, 549 U.S. at 429
(alterations in

original) (court may dismiss on forum non conveniens grounds
before

resolving jurisdictional questions). Dismissal for forum non
conveniens

reflects a courts assessment of a range of considerations, most
notably the

convenience to the parties and the practical difficulties that
can attend the

adjudication of a dispute in a certain locality. Id. (quoting
Quackenbush v.

Allstate Ins. Co., 517 U.S. 706, 723 (1996)).

Israel plainly is a more appropriate forum in which to litigate
this case.

Israels independent courts afford parties a full and fair
opportunity to be

heard and are adequate alternative fora. See Wilson v. Eckhaus,
349 F. Appx

649 (2d Cir. 2009) (affirming forum non conveniens dismissal in
favor of

litigation in Israel); Miller v. Boston Scientific Corp., 380 F.
Supp. 2d 443 (D.N.J.

2005) (granting forum non conveniens dismissal in favor of
litigation in Israel).

All of the Foreign Official defendants are residing in Israel,
as are two of the

three plaintiffs. Compl. 3-11. The third plaintiff, Mr.
Ben-Haim, lived for

years in Israel. Nearly all of the documentary and testimonial
evidence

remains in Israel and is in Hebrew. Moreover, the Complaint
reveals that all of
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the plaintiffs have litigated cases in Israel and are familiar
with that judicial

system. See Compl. 95-107. Finally, Israels public interest in
these issues

far outweighs the Plaintiffs private interest in having this
matter litigated in

the United States.

CONCLUSION

The Foreign Official defendants respectfully request that the
Court

dismiss with prejudice the Complaint against the Foreign
Official defendants

for lack of personal jurisdiction, lack of subject matter
jurisdiction, common

law immunity, insufficient service of process, failure to state
a claim, and

because this dispute is non-justiciable under the act of state
doctrine, the

political question doctrine, comity, and forum non
conveniens.

Dated: May 14, 2012

John B. Bellinger IIIPro hac vice pending

Jean E. KalickiPro hac vice pending

R. Reeves AndersonPro hac vice pending

ARNOLD & PORTER LLP555 Twelfth St., NWWashington, DC
20004

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Jennifer L. Larson

Jennifer L. LarsonARNOLD & PORTER LLP399 Park AvenueNew
York, NY 10022Tel: (212) 715-1000Fax: (212)
[email protected]

Attorneys for Defendants Neeman, Kahlon,

Arbel, Steinmetz, Artman, Milner, and Edri
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